

SCHOOL OF ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING AND TELECOMMUNICATIONS

Secure Communication in Multifunctional Active Intelligent Reflection Surface-assisted MISO Systems

> By Xinyu Lin

Thesis submitted as a requirement for the degree Master of Engineering Science (Telecommunications)

May 16, 2024

Abstract

In the sixth-generation mobile communication systems, the intelligent reflective surfaces are expected to replace the massive MIMO technology in the fifth-generation mobile communication systems to reduce system energy consumption and implementational cost. In this thesis, we adopt the use of active intelligent reflective surface to improve the system performance, to jointly optimize the beamforming vector (Phase and Amplitude) at the IRS and the beamforming vector of the antenna array at the base station through the design of optimization algorithm. In particular, we aim to find the best beamforming vector, to maximize the minimal individual user's data rate in the system for fairness provisioning. Our design also takes into account the existence of eavesdroppers, to achieve secure communication. Besides, artificial noise is designed and injected to the communication channels deliberately to strike a balance between interference mitigation and communication secrecy.

Index Terms-Intelligent Reflecting surface (IRS), secure communication, beamforming, convex optimization.

Acknowledgements

This thesis is a long and arduous journey I have only been able to make as a result of the dedicated support I have received from my supervisor Derrick Wing Kwan Ng. The deepest and sincerest gratitude goes to my supervisor for his continuous and invaluable guidance throughout my research. I would like to thank him for his for his patience, support, and empathy. I will cherish this experience and be forever grateful for all meaningful instruct by my professor.

Furthermore, I would like to express my sincere appreciation to my parents for their motivation, patience, love and care during my education and life journey. My dear buddies, they are Qianyue, Yachao and Tianyu, they have become my sparks on the far-off path. Thanks for being my therapist.

Sincere wishes to you, may everything be pleasant to you.

Abbreviations

5G	Fifth-Generation
6G	Sixth-Generation
mm-Wave Communication	Millimetre - Wave Communication
Massive MIMO	Massive Multiple-Input Multiple-Output
LDPC	Low-Density Parity Check
NOMA	Non-Orthogonal Multiple Access
SDN	Software-Defined Networking
THz Communication	Terahertz Communication
SM-MIMO	Spatial Modulation Multiple-Input Multiple-Output
IRS	Intelligent Reflecting Surface
OAM	Operations, Administration, and Maintenance
VLC	Visible Light Communication
FeMMB	Further enhanced Mobile Broadband
eRLLC	enhanced Ultra-Reliable, Low – Latency Communication
unMTC	ultra massive Machine Type Communication
LDHMC	Long-Distance and High-Mobility Communications
ELPC	Extremely Low-Power Communications
eMBB	enhanced Mobile Broadband

URLLC	Ultra-Reliable Low Latency Communication
mMtc	massive Machine type communication
LoS	Line-of-Sight
DoF	Degree of Freedom

Contents

Abstracti
Acknowledgementsii
Abbreviations iii
Contentsv
List of Figures vii
List of Tables viii
Chapter 11
Introduction1
1.1Overview of 6G networks challenges and Technologies3
1.2 IRS Technology6
1.3 Secure communication9
1.4 Beamforming Concept11
1.5 Challenges in 6G IRS communication13
1.6 Prior Works & Improvement15
1.7 Organization of the Thesis17
Chapter 2
System Model and Problem Formulation18
2. 1 System Signal Model18
2.2 Problem Formulation21
Chapter 3
Solution of the Optimization Problem22
3.1 Algorithm Design
3.2 Alternating Optimization
3.2.1 Sub-problem 1: Optimization of Artificial Noise and Precoder Vector at the Base Station
Chapter 4
Simulation Results
4.1 Average minimum secrecy rate with different number of active IRS elements under certain BS Power budget
4.2 Average minimum secrecy rate with certain number of active IRS elements under different power budget
Chapter 5

Conclusion	
5.1 Summary of Simulation Results	
5.2 Future work	
Appendix A	
Appendix B	
Bibliography	

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Vision for 6G systems and its underlaying use cases
Figure 1.2 Typical IRS applications in wireless network
6
Figure 1.3 A secure wireless communication system with a multifunctional active IRS, a multi-
antenna eavesdropper (Eve), and K users
9
Figure 2.1 An IRS-assisted MISO wireless communication system with a multi-antenna
Eavesdropper
Figure 3.1 Flow chart of the proposed algorithm for solving the non-convex problem
Figure 4.1 System setup for the simulation
Figure 4.2 Average minimum secrecy rate when users K=3, $P_{BS, Budget} = 30 \text{ dBm}$
32
Figure 4.3 Average minimum secrecy rate when users $K=3$ IRS elments = 30
2/

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Comparison of 5G,6G Cellular system	1
Table 1.2 Difference Between Reflecting-Only IRS and STAR-IRS	7
Table 4.1 System Parameters	31

Chapter 1

Introduction

Since 2020, 5G communication technology has been deployed and used globally. Industry and academia have been promoting advance research on B5G and 6G communication system. Meanwhile, with the purpose of satisfying the more stringent requirements of 6G and addressing some of the limitations and difficulties in 5G. For example, in 6G communication systems we expect higher energy efficiency, more reliable connectivity, wider coverage, higher data rates, lower latency. These problems are challenging to solve through the key technologies of 5G and will introducing higher costs. For example, in 5G mobile communication system, MIMO rely on AP or use a huge number of multiple-input multipleoutput antenna technologies to has been proposed. Precise beamforming, which requires huge hardware costs and cannot meet growing performance requirements [1].

	5G	6G
Capacity	10-20 Gbps	100Gbps-1Tbps
Frequency (Max)	100GHz	10THz
Mobile Support Rate	500km/hr	1000km/hr
Delay	1-10ms	<1ms
Bandwidth	1GHz	100GHz
Main-Tech	mm-Wave Communication	THz communication
	Massive MIMO	SM-MIMO
	LDPC/Polar Code	IRS/HBP/OAM
	NOMA/SDN	Laser/VLC
	Ultradense Network	Quantum Communication
	Flexible Frame Structure	AI/Machine Learning
Main Sensoria	eMBB/URLLC	FeMMB/eRLLC/unMTC/LDHMC
	mMtc	ELPC

Table 1.1: Comparison	of 5G,6G Cellular	System [8][9]
-----------------------	-------------------	---------------

To break through the limitations of 5G communications, it is necessary to introduce lowcost, low-complexity, and sustainable new technologies into 6G. It has been advocated that the introduction of IRS in 6G offer a viable solution to address the upcoming challenges posed by 6G [2], The initial IRS was a passive metric plane containing a large number of low-cost passive reflective elements. Each element could independently adopt the phase of the incident wave and assist in three-dimensional beamforming. Subsequently, transmissive IRS and active IRS were introduced. In particular, ones we can apply advanced signal processing algorithm to obtain the optimal beamforming vector of each element of active IRS, thereby accurately adjusting the phase and amplitude of each unit. After adjustment, the system can obtain better beamforming performance and obtain more Accurate beamforming results significantly improve the signal rate of the communication system and the signal-to-noise ratio at legitimate users [3][4]. This advantage will be discussed and verified in this thesis.

In addition, the security of the physical layer can also be improved by deploying IRS. As one of the hot spots in the 6G communication system, concerning on secure communication should be taken for granted. Wireless communication systems are very vulnerable to attacks by eavesdroppers. The 6G system emphasizes the intelligent connection of all things. For example, autonomous driving technology and government and military networks are very demanding for secure and confidential communications [5]. In many thesis, the number of eavesdropper antennas is assumed to be smaller than the number of legitimate users, which is not necessarily reasonable in actual communication systems [6][7]. In this thesis, we assume that the eavesdropper is mature and knows our communication codebook and channel status. We included artificial noise to fight against the eavesdropper. At the same time, combined with active IRS, the impact signal can be reflected to Required legitimate users and promptly shut down active IRS in extreme cases. Assuredly, while resisting eavesdroppers, the introduction of artificial noise will also be introduced into the SINR of legitimate users as unavoidable noise, which will reduce the SINR of legitimate users to a certain extent.

To solving with complex non-convex optimization problems, we will use a suboptimal method of alternating optimization to find effective and reasonable suboptimal solutions. We will alternately adjust the beamforming matrix to find the optimal combination of phase and amplitude to achieve more accurate beamforming and use optimization algorithms to find the beamforming vector of the legal user with the smallest amount of energy in the

communication to achieve the maximum capacity. Meanwhile, artificially introduced noise to resist multi-antenna eavesdropper attacks to achieve secure communication.



1.1 Overview of 6G networks challenges and Technologies

Figure 1.1: Vision for 6G systems and its underlaying use cases [10].

While the fifth-generation system has become commercial reality [10] from 2020, to a certain extent, 5G has initially met the needs of the Internet of Things (IoT). However, effectively controlling its deployment costs and continuously improving energy efficiency are still bottlenecks that are difficult to break through. A more cost-effective system with higher data rates, more reliability and greater capacity need to be researched and explored. It can be described that the emergence of the sixth-generation mobile communication system is the inevitable result of changes in modern lifestyles and social development. Article [10] summarizes the key social needs of 6G systems and focuses on how to solve various challenges encountered in the development of 6G from the physical layer (PHY). In addition, more thesis that delve into the physical layer have also been published. For example, the research contribution in [11] focuses on exploring how the waveforms in the high-frequency band are different from the past, and how to make these waveforms overcome the hardware impairment of the physical layer and perform their best performance. [12] describes the wireless power supply solution required to implement 6g physical network architecture, as well as the key technologies and challenges required. [13] discusses various radio frequency link hardware challenges faced when using the THz band in 6G systems.

Furthermore, the challenges of the physical layer are only part of the 6G system. Improvements in the data link layer and network layer are also the key points to solve the challenges in the 6g communication system. For instance, the existing TCP/IP protocol cannot guarantee the service quality of 6G applications [10].

In the following content, this thesis will discuss the key challenges facing by 6G from six directions, they are: data rate requirements, low latency requirements, synchronization requirements, security requirements, computing volume requirements, and reliability requirements. For each direction, here are some briefly descried corresponding to the actual usage scenario:

- Data rate requirements: In holographic communication, system aim to provide users with immersive three-dimensional images. Different from the number and size of previous images, future system needs a very high data rate. In addition, unlike conventional data compression technologies, traditional technical solutions will reduce the required transmission rate but also destroy the user experience [14].
- 2. Low latency requirements: In scenarios related to vision and touch, ultra-low latency requirements are particularly important [10]. The industry 4.0 era emphasizes the interaction between humans and IoT systems, that is, the interaction between humans and machines. This requires suppressing the delay in the communication link to between 100 microseconds and 1 millisecond. Only in this way can provide user with a better operating experience. For example, in the future medical system, doctors want to achieve remote surgery. During the COVID-19 process, human have already experienced the convenience and importance of telemedicine. No matter where the doctor and patient are, with the help of ultra-low latency surgical robots, users can operate high-precision surgeries with real-time tactile and visual feedback, which is crucial for humans [15][16].
- 3. Synchronization requirements: In the future transportation system, autonomous driving technology is crucial, ranging from the driving system of private cars to the autonomous driving systems of airplanes and rockets. Through interactive systems that can be synchronized in real time, the driver can understand the implementation of the entire transportation system. Also, relying on mature autonomous driving systems to assist human driving and free up the driver's hands reduce the probability of traffic jams and traffic accidents. Meanwhile, in an autonomous driving system, information from different locations must be strictly synchronized.

- 4. Security requirements: Based on the above discussion of surgical robots and autonomous driving technology, it is no doubt that security must be guaranteed. Malicious disruption or malicious eavesdropping of the communication system may have catastrophic consequences. Furthermore, 6G communications will also provide services for national defence systems and government agencies, it is even more important to have a secure communications system that is not vulnerable to attack.
- 5. Computational requirements: As we all know, the more sophisticated the system, the greater the amount of information that needs to be processed, which means that the computational complexity is very high, and the computational complexity will bring greater time delays. This is something unexpected. For example, when engineers want to perform more accurate beamforming, they may use a convex optimization algorithm to find the global optimal solution, that is, calculate the best beamforming vector. If the system aims to find a strict global optimal solution, the computational complexity will be very high, and the computing requirements of the system will also be massive. On the one hand, how to bring more powerful computing power to the system is significant, and on the other hand, how to effectively reduce the computational complexity of the communication algorithm is also a problem that needs to be concerned [17].
- 6. Reliability requirements: For the entire communication system, how to reduce packet loss? How to control delays within an acceptable range? How to ensure stable service quality? How to promptly recover from system failures? All those questions are crucial to maintaining reliable communication requirements. In the 6G communication scenario described above, whether it is the autonomous driving system of a private car or the national defence information system of the entire country, the industrial IoT system need to maintain as high reliability rate, such as 99.99999% [18].

1.2 IRS Technology



Figure 1.2: Typical IRS applications in wireless network [2].

Intelligent reconfigurable surfaces have become one of the significant technologies in 6G communications. Compared with 5G's large-scale antenna arrays, IRS has the advantages of low cost, low power consumption, high plasticity, and easy deployment. With the improvement of raw material production technology, Intelligent reconfigurable surfaces have attracted more people's interest. By comparing the first generation of passive IRS to a mirror. The beam is emitted from the transmitting end and is reflected by the IRS. Obtain electromagnetic signals with new propagation characteristics [19]. Using IRS to replace traditional radio frequency links can achieve low energy consumption and low-cost deployment scenarios. IRS can be manufactured in various sizes and installed at any position and on any shape of object surface [21], meeting the requirements of most communication scenarios [2]. For example, when there isn't exist straight path between the transmitter and the receiver, allocate an IRS at a suitable location between them is a good solution. By artificially creating a virtual line of sight link Los, communication scenarios with blind spots can be effectively assisted.

In addition, for millimetre wave communication scenarios with many indoor obstructions, installing passive IRS is particularly useful [2]. In view of the rapid development of electromagnetic EM technology, researchers have launched a new generation of STAR-IRS

with both transmission and reflection functions [20]. Existing research shows that STAR-IRS has benefits in increasing the gain of systems, but it's combining the difficulties of hardware implementation, [20] describes the hardware challenges faced in its implementation and proposes multiple implementation solutions, such as STAR-IOS based on single-layer graphene material and STAR-IOS based on silicon material.

Components	Reflecting-Only IRS	STAR-IRS
Substrates	Opaque	Transparent at Radio Frequency
Elements	Only Passive reflect electric	Both Magnetic currents and electric
Coefficients	Reflection Coefficients	Transmission and Reflection Coefficients

Table 1.2: Difference Between Reflecting-Only IRS and STAR-IRS [22]

It is well known that multiple fading effects occur in communication systems. If system only use passive IRS, only limited energy gain can be obtained. To mining more energy gain, the active IRS has been introduced. Different from the passive IRS, active IRS can achieve the effect of amplifying the reflected signal, which brings huge energy gain to wireless communication systems. The verification in [20] shows that in a typical wireless communication system, adding active IRS to the communication system can achieve a gain up to 130%, which is much higher than the gain brought by passive IRS. In addition to actively amplifying reflected signals, beamforming and coding technologies can be combined to further tap more potential in the limited resources of the communication system.

As we well know, IRS will also introduce additional noise when amplifying the signal, including IRS own noise and the inevitable amplified noise in the base station signal. It is worth mentioning that each element in the active IRS is adjustable. System can obtain the optimal beamforming vector of each unit through an algorithm, and independently adjust the beamforming vector of each unit to obtain the best SINR. This also results in higher data rates.

In addition to using passive IRS alone or active IRS indecently, by combining active and passive IRS, or even combing traditional AP and IRS will achieve better performance. [23] proposed multi-active multi-passive MAMP-IRS and modelled an efficient optimization

algorithm based on graph theory. [24] considered a communication system with multiple passive IRs cooperating, maximizing the user acceptance power by finding the best reflection path, and proved that obvious gains can be obtained after multiple IRS reflections, but at the same time introduced multiplicative interference causes path loss. [25] analysed network design for hybrid passive/active beamforming, also considered how to obtain the maximum system capacity by adjusting the ratio of IRS and BS.

IRS will contribute to improving channel capacity, expanding coverage, and saving power consumption in the 6G communication system. However, it is obviously that after manually adjusted the ratio of active IRS to passive IRS, or adjust the ratio of base stations to IRS, the obtained system capacity value does not increase infinitely, which means that after reaching a certain threshold, the system capacity is infinitely. In conclusion, when deploying IRS, engineers also need to consider how to define the deployment cost of IRS, and where to deploy IRS? How to achieve sustainable development?

1.3 Secure communication



Figure 1.3: A secure wireless communication system with a multifunctional active IRS, a multi-antenna eavesdropper (Eve), and K users [29].

Conventionally, compared with unicast and broadcast communications, multicast is a more efficient way to send large amounts of public content to multiple receivers simultaneously and will be widely used in future content-centric wireless networks. However, multi-user broadcast systems are more vulnerable to eavesdropper attacks. The security issue of the physical layer is a challenging issue for 6G. In thesis [27], the maximum-security capacity of a large-scale multi-output multi-receiver communication system is found by optimizing the transmission matrix of the transmitted signal. In [26], an IRS-assisted secure multicast communication system is considered, and an equivalent channel that can maximize the security rate is formulated after trying to obtain the user channel status and the eavesdropper channel status. [2] shows the solution of how to use IRS to improve the security of the physical layer. It deploys IRS at a reasonable physical location and uses the characteristic that the reflected signal of IRS can be coordinated to offset the signal from the BS at the eavesdropper. Reduce the risk of information leakage.

However, in real communication systems, it is difficult to obtain the exact location of the eavesdropper in time, not to mention that the eavesdropper has real-time mobility. In the literature [28], artificial noise is introduced. By controlling the beamforming vector of artificial noise, the probability of leakage of signals sent by the base station is effectively reduced. At

the same time, the signal quality obtained by eavesdroppers in the system is reduced. Meanwhile, the system performance and confidentiality rate are effectively improved. However, this technology has shortcomings. Researchers point out that this technology can effectively ensure information security only when the total number of eavesdropper antennas is smaller than the total number of transmitter antennas.

In the literature [29], to overcome the above difficulties, a new active IRS-assisted secure communication system is designed, allowing active IRS to act as an independent interference source to combat the illegal activities of eavesdroppers. At the same time, the optimization algorithm is used to effectively select the working mode of the IRS and adjust the amplitude and phase of each independent element in the active IRS board to reflect the impact signal to the legitimate user to achieve the goal of safe communication.

1.4 Beamforming Concept

Beamforming technology came into people's vision with the fifth generation of mobile communication systems and was widely used. During the beamforming process, the transmitting antenna maximizes the gain of the entire antenna in the direction of the mobile terminal by forming a beam. To achieve the goal of increasing signal power in a positive proportion to the number of transmitting antennas, beamforming technology is indispensable.

Generally, beamforming relies on antenna arrays consisting of 8 or more antennas. Beamforming is performed by applying different complex gains, or so-called weighting coefficients, to different elements of the antenna array. All propagation beams can be pointed in different directions, and this process is completed by phase shifting of different signals on different antennas.

The biggest difference between massive MIMO and traditional MIMO antenna systems is their beamforming technology. The conventional communication method mainly uses one or more antennas of a certain base station to realize the electromagnetic wave transmission task between the user antennas. And the principle of beamforming technology is a certain base station has many antennas, which can realize the transmission of electromagnetic waves from different sources. The directional of signal is adjusted to achieve an overlapping crossover pattern at the user end to enhance the signal. The technology that uses large-scale antenna beamforming related algorithms generally uses matrix inversion operations.

However, with the widespread use of big data and the increasing application requirements of various terminal devices. The existing 5G LTE communication system faces severe challenges. Therefore, major standardization organizations and telecommunications manufacturers around the world have carried out research and construction of the sixth-generation mobile communications system. The 6G system is committed to improving technology and adding innovations to meet the continuous development needs of future expansion of data services and growth in the number of connections, and to further enhance user experience. It can simultaneously achieve 100 times the capacity and exceed data rate at 10Gbit/s [8][9]. Beamforming technology is one of the outstanding technologies in 5G and 6G wireless communication technology and has attracted much attention in the communications field.

There are still some key issues need to be considered:

(1) For the 5G communication systems, due to the continuous increase in the number of antennas and array elements, the size of the antennas has been continuously enlarged. Under the existing technology, the antenna size exceeds the engineering construction range.

(2) The method of using 2D beam propagation channel does not meet the requirements of large-scale antennas beamforming.

(3) How can large-scale antenna systems quickly and accurately collect different terminal signals? How to combine user information accurately transmitted to each antenna? How to reduce the feedback cost generated by collecting terminal signals? How to design pilot design and channel estimation suitable for FDD systems to achieve the purpose of reciprocity between upstream and downstream channels?

(4) When using large-scale antenna beamforming related algorithms, how to choose the appropriate algorithm to reduce the computational complexity of the system and achieve real-time beam forming?

To summarize, the three most crucial issues in current technology research are:

- (1) Solve the information acquisition and analysis technology about the system.
- (2) Select the channel information transmission scheme of the system.
- (3) Integrate the resource allocation of the system [30].

It is worth mentioning that the IRS technology proposed in the 6G communication system is a revolutionary technology because it is composed of a large number of low-cost passive elements, and each element is highly controllable. By designing software, we can control the phase and power amplification coefficient of each element and independently reflect the incident signal through IRS. This technology allows us to achieve 3D passive beamforming without removing the traditional RF link. [31] proves that by deploying IRS to assist MISO communication, the SINR at the user is significantly improved, and explains how to use the alternating optimization algorithm to find the best beamforming solution.

1.5 Challenges in 6G IRS communication

For the IRS used in 6G communication systems, its efficiency is valuable, such as, low manufacturing cost, easy deployment on any object surface, low installation cost, energy saving and low maintenance cost. While most of the above advantages are based on passive IRS, which can be regarded as a mirror, but its function is only to reflect electromagnetic waves, it is unknown that whether the reflection direction is perfectly aimed at the user or not.

Driven by the requirement for obtain better communication quality, one of the solutions is to intelligently reconfigure the wireless channel by dynamically adjusting IRS elements [23]. Some trade-offs need to be considered, such as adding FPGA circuits to IRS. To ensure that each element is independently controllable, corresponding software need to be developed to drive the hardware and seek the best control solution through optimization algorithms. In this way, more accurate CSI is obtainable to perform precise beamforming, but system may also encounter more complex manufacturing process challenges, higher economic costs, and higher energy consumption.

When many engineers model communication systems, they assume that the communication system model has a perfect channel state and that the sender and receiver know CSI, which is not consistent with actual application scenarios. Firstly, there must be very complex channels in the communication system because electromagnetic waves must undergo multiple refraction and reflection when propagating in the air [33]. The channel conditions in actual communication systems must be very complex, and there is a high probability that there is no non-blocking reflection link between the base station and the user. Secondly, the channel status is updated dynamically in real time, especially in the 6G mobile communication system. Within a limited times unit, there will be multiple information transmissions in a communication system. How to obtain it timely and correctly in the IRS-assisted communication system?

Obtaining CSI always is a big challenge [34]. It is generally difficult to estimate the completely passive IRS independently. It can only be inferred through the signal received by the user in the BS-IRS-user channel. For active IRS, sensors can be installing on the IRS board [34].[35] mentioned that channel estimation could be performing based on AOA and path gain. In addition, there are different signal processing tools based on deep learning and compressed sensing. To carry out channel estimation and other solutions [36].

Last but not least, more attention should be paid on the hardware impairment of IRS. There is no doubt that each IRS has multiple elements, and engineers need to consider the coupling characteristics between each unit. Furthermore, by using active IRS, in addition to the corresponding cost increase, the noise signal will be inevitably amplified at the same time when performing power amplification and introduce more interference to the system, which will directly affect the SINR of the communication system.

1.6 Prior Works & Improvement

Low latency requirements, high data rate requirements, synchronization requirements, security requirements, computational requirements and reliability requirements have brought many challenges to 6G, even far exceeding the processing capabilities of existing communication systems. Therefore, there is a large amount of research pay attention on designing solutions to the above challenges. Now, promising solutions can be divided into two aspects. One is a solution that focuses on performance improvement at the expense of economy and energy consumption, and the other is a solution that focuses on economy and energy consumption at the expense of performance. Obviously, any solution that sacrifices either side is not perfect. Engineers need to find the optimal solution that can achieve a balance between energy efficiency and economy.

The IRS-assisted 6G communication system has received widespread attention as a very promising research direction. Many engineers and scientists have highly recognized its existing advantages and achieved many valuable research results. Of course, the IRS-assisted 6G Communication systems still have unlimited potential waiting for us to explore. Literature [23] [32] summarizes existing research results and unsolved technical challenges. Literature [37] [38] [39] respectively discussed the software, hardware implementation, and performance analysis required for IRS-assisted communication.

[31] used passive IRS, considered the scenario where jointly optimizes AP transmission/coding and IRS adjustment phase, and proposed effective optimization solutions in single-user and multi-user scenarios, proving that compared with traditional communication systems, the use of IRs-assisted communication The performance of wireless networks has been significantly improved in terms of energy consumption and coverage. However, its research has shortcomings. Because IRS cannot directly perform channel estimation, furthermore, papers [40][41] proposed a scheme to assist single-user systems in channel estimation through double-IRS. The research shows that using two cooperative IRS for passive beamforming is significantly better than using only one IRS, but its research is limited to using double IRS.

[24] introduced a hybrid active/passive multi-IRS-assisted communication system, and jointly optimized multi-path beam beamforming to find the optimal split path and maximize the received power of the user end. However, the research in [24] still has flaws, because as

the number of IRS increases, the path loss increases. How to effectively reduce the path loss is a problem waiting to be solved. In addition, when all signals are at the same frequency, how to avoid path overlapping when entering the path world? Literature [42] proposes an effective solution based on graph theory. The author of [42] mentioned in his subsequent paper about avoiding channel estimation difficulties! Estimate channel training can be performed, that is, the IRS send pilots to each other offline when idle, and the optimal reflection path of each component can be remembered and fed back to the bs for channel estimation and beamforming.

When attempting to use the active IRS system to tap larger communication resources, the first thing should be considered is how to achieve more precise beamforming through each element in the active IRS. This goal can be achieved by adjusting not only the amplitude but also the phase of each element. But there still exists a trade -off between passive beamforming and computational complexity. To implement precise beam control, some FPGA circuits may be added to the IRS, at the same time there brings the needs to design corresponding software to control the circuit, which will inevitably increase the existing manufacturing cost and complexity. A mitigation plan was proposed in the lecture [43], that is, not all elements are in an active state, but a partitioning plan is used, and the optimal solution of how to partition and how many elements to activate is based on the water filling principal algorithm. The lecturer of [43] pointed out that when system using IRS, it is not that the IRS with more sub-blocks is better, and the more gain is obtained. As the number of subblocks increases, the impact of user multiplexing cannot be ignored. At the same time, [43] pointed out that most of the modelling of communication systems in the past was far-field modelling, and engineers should more carefully consider near-field modelling in future work. Also, the impact caused by field effects.

If the channel status information is already known, how to obtain fast beamforming? [44] proposed a fast IRS reflected beam training method under IRS-assisted communication system. The elements of IRS are divided into multiple groups, and the optimal beam direction is obtained based on snr through the user end. The problem of [44] is that when receiving several high-energy beams, it is difficult to determine which beam caused the high-energy due to multi-beam interference. The corresponding solution is to train multiple beams at the same time and use the dichotomy method to find and determine the best beam.

Previously many thesis attempted to find the optimal beamforming vector by jointly optimizing the amplitude and phase of each independently adjustable element of the active IRS. But most of them are limited to local optimal solutions rather than global optimal solutions [4], [45]. In future optimization algorithms, how to find the global optimal solution will be a major challenge.

1.7 Organization of the Thesis

Inspired by previous works, this thesis considers IRS-aided wireless networks. An overview of the remainder of the work for this thesis: In Chapter2, the system model has been defined. In Chapter3 the problem formulation has been carried out. Chapter4 record the simulation result. Chapter5 summarizes the work in this thesis and carry out the proposal for future work.

Chapter 2

System Model and Problem Formulation

2.1 System Signal Model



Figure 2.1: An IRS-assisted MISO wireless communication system with a multi-antenna Eavesdropper.

To considered secure transmission system, in the thesis, we consider an IRS-assisted MISO wireless communication system which exist a BS with M antennas. K wireless legal users equipped with single antenna receiving the transmitted signal. There is an $N \times N$ reflecting elements IRS which is known as active IRS participants the communication between BS and K users. It's obviously that the system is a Multiple-input and single output system modelling. In particular, the eavesdropper is equipped with L antennas.

The system model is depicted in Figure2.1. What's more, we assume that the channel state information (CSI) of all the channels is always well known. The equivalent baseband channel from BS to active IRS(BS - IRS), the channel from active-IRS to user k ($IRS - user_k$),the directly channel from BS to User k ($BS - user_k$), the channel from active-IRS to the eavesdropper (IRS - EAV), the directly channel from BS to the eavesdropper (BS - EAV) are denoted by $G \in \mathbb{C}^{N \times M}$, $h_{t,k} \in \mathbb{C}^{N \times 1}$, $h_{d,k} \in \mathbb{C}^{M \times 1}$, $h_{te,l} \in \mathbb{C}^{N \times L}$, and $h_{de,l} \in \mathbb{C}^{M \times L}$ respectively.

A. System Signal Model

(i) Transmitted Signal at the BS: During each transaction, the transmitted signal vector from the BS is given by:

$$T_x = \vec{x} = \vec{s} + \vec{a},$$
 (2.1.1)

For multiple users $1 \sim K$:

$$\vec{x} = \sum_{k=1}^{K} \overline{w_k} s_k + \overline{w_N} a , \qquad (2.1.2)$$

where $\overline{w_k} \in \mathbb{C}^{M \times 1}, \forall k \in \{1, ..., K\}$, refers to the beamforming vector for user k and $s_k \sim \mathcal{CN}(0,1)$ is the data transmitting to user k. a is the artificial noise which is intending generated by BS to defence and combat the eavesdropper, while $\overline{w_N} \in \mathbb{C}^{M \times 1}$, determine the beamforming vector for artificial noise. In total we have K + 1 signals to be transmitted.

(ii) Reflected Signal at the active-IRS:

The reflection Matrix of the active IRS is given as $\Theta = A\Phi$, the Φ is a matrix written as $\Phi = diag(\emptyset) \in \mathbb{C}^{N \times N}$, where $\emptyset = [\emptyset_1, ..., \emptyset_n, ..., \emptyset_{N \times N}]^T \in \mathbb{C}^{N \times N}$, $\emptyset_n = P_n e^{j\theta n} \forall n \in [1, ..., N \times N], \ \theta \in [0, 2\pi)$, $P_n \ge 0$, $A = diag(\alpha) \in \mathbb{C}^{N \times N}$. We also define the device noise of the active-IRS as $n_l \in \mathbb{C}^{N^2 \times 1}$, $n_l \sim \mathcal{CN}(0, \sigma_l^2)$.

(iii) Signal Model of Users: The received signal by user k, $\forall k$, can be modelling as:

$$y_k = h_{t,k}^H \Theta G \vec{x} + h_{d,k}^H \vec{x} + A \Phi n_I + n_{BS},$$
 (2.3.1)

the thermal noise at user k go through by the equivalent baseband channel from BS to active IRS(BS - IRS) plus the channel from active-IRS to user k ($IRS - user_k$) is represented by $A\Phi n_I$, while the noise from the directly channel from BS to User k ($BS - user_k$) is represented by n_{BS} . $A\Phi n_I \sim C\mathcal{N}(0, \sigma_I^2)$, $n_{BS} \sim C\mathcal{N}(0, \sigma_n^2)$. Therefore, the signal-to-interference-to-noise ratio (SINR) at user k, $\forall k$ and the achievable data rate are:

$$R_{U,k} = \log_{2}(1 + SINR_{k}), \qquad (2.3.2)$$

$$SINR_{k} = \frac{\left| \left(h_{t,k}^{H} \Theta G + h_{d,k}^{H} \right) \overline{w_{k}} \right|^{2}}{\sum_{j \neq k} \left| \left(h_{t,k}^{H} \Theta G + h_{d,k}^{H} \right) \overline{w_{j}} \right|^{2} + \left| \left(h_{t,k}^{H} \Theta G + h_{d,k}^{H} \right) \overline{w_{k}} \right|^{2} + A \Phi \sigma_{I}^{2} + \sigma_{n}^{2}, (2.3.3)$$

(iv) Eavesdropper's Signal Model: The received signal at the eavesdropper is model as: $\vec{y_E} = h_{te,k}^H \Theta G \vec{x} + h_{de,k}^H \vec{x} + n_E$, (2.4.1) where $|F_{eq}w_Nw_N^HF_{eq}^H|^2$ represent the artificial noise as an interference, $\sigma_I^2 Ah_{te,k} \Phi \Phi^H h_{te,k}^H$ is the thermal noise thought active-IRS, the last part $\sum_{K-1} |F_{eq}w_kw_k^HF_{eq}^H|^2$ represent the intersymbol interference.

$$F_{eq} = (h_{te,k}^{H} \Theta G + h_{de,k}^{H}), \qquad (2.4.2)$$

$$Q = \left(\left| F_{eq} w_{N} w_{N}^{H} F_{eq}^{H} \right|^{2} + \sigma_{I}^{2} \left| Ah_{te,k} \Phi \Phi^{H} h_{te,k}^{H} \right| + \sum_{K-1} \left| F_{eq} w_{k} w_{k}^{H} F_{eq}^{H} \right|^{2} \right), (2.4.3)$$

$$R_{E,k} = \log_{2} \left(det \left(I_{k} + Q^{-1} F_{eq} w_{k} w_{k}^{H} F_{eq}^{H} \right) \right), \forall k, \qquad (2.4.4)$$

Finally, the system's achievable secrecy rate between the BS and legal user k can be written as:

$$R_{k} = \left[R_{U,k} - R_{E,k}\right]^{+}$$
(2.4.5)

2.2 Problem Formulation

In this work, we propose to maximize the minimal received signal for user cofinally we can maximize the system achievable data rate by jointly designing: $\overrightarrow{w_k}$, $\overrightarrow{w_N}$, A, Φ , which can be formulated as optimization problem $\mathcal{P}1$:

$$\mathcal{P}1: Maximize \left\{ \min_{k} R_{k} \right\} = Maximize \left\{ \min_{k} \left\{ R_{U,k} - R_{E,k} \right\} \right\}$$
(2.5.1)

$$s. t. \qquad C1: \qquad \sum_{K} \|\overline{w_{k}}\|^{2} + \|\overline{w_{N}}\|^{2} \leq P_{BS \ Budget},$$

$$C2: \|A\Phi G\|^{2} + \sigma_{I}^{2} \|A\Phi\|^{2} \leq P_{IRS \ Budget},$$

$$C3: R_{E,k} \leq C_{K \ max} \rightarrow \log_{2} \left(det \left(I_{k} + Q^{-1}F_{eq}w_{k}w_{k}^{H}F_{eq}^{H} \right) \right) \leq C_{K \ max}, \forall k,$$

$$C4: \qquad \Phi = \operatorname{diag}(e^{j\theta_{1}}, \dots, e^{j\theta_{n}}), \theta \in \{0, \pi\},$$

Here, constrains C1 ensure that the max power of system is under the Transmission power from BS. Constrains C2, the power that active-IRS can amplify the signal is limited by the maximum power of IRS itself. In constrains C3, the maximum tolerable information leakage to the eavesdropper for wiretapping the signals transmitted to user k is limited to $C_{K max}$. constrains C4 defines the maximum adjustable range of the angle.

Chapter 3

Solution of the Optimization Problem

3.1 Algorithm Design



Figure 3.1: Flow chart of the proposed algorithm for solving the non-convex problem.

In this following chapter, we aiming to find the solution of the aforementioned problem in (2.5.1). It can be observed that optimization problem (2.5.1) is non-convex due to the constrains C1, C2 and C3. Normally, it takes a lot of resources to obtain the global optimization solution of $\mathcal{P}1$, it not only requires an exhaustive search but also include exceeding high computation and cost. Therefore, we obtain a sub-optimal solution to the problem $\mathcal{P}1$ by adopting AO algorithm alternatively. We implement alternate optimization in terms of

 $\{\overrightarrow{w_k}, \overrightarrow{w_N}\}\$ and $\{A, \Phi\}\$ respectively. We split the optimization variables via AO method [51], the problem in (2.5.1) transfer to two separate subproblems, where each separate subproblem may only has one grouped variable, and other grouped variable is at a feasible value. Which means that for the first subproblem with variables $\{\overrightarrow{w_k}, \overrightarrow{w_N}\}\$, we adopt SDR algorithm to solving the problem. Finally, we will obtain the final optimize solution by updating these two grouped optimization variables alternatively. Figure 3.1 shows the proposed algorithm.

3.2 Alternating Optimization

In this section, we rewrite the objection function $\mathcal{P}1$ as its equivalent function $\mathcal{P}2$, aiming to handle the non-convexity of $\mathcal{P}1$. To start with, we introduce the following proposition to handle the problem.

To start with, let $B = A\Phi$, $B = (\alpha_1, ..., \alpha_N)$, $\alpha_N \in \{0, \pi\}$, then, let $R_{U,k} = \gamma_{U,k}$, $R_{E,k} = \beta_{E,k}$. Therefore $\mathcal{P}1$ can be rewritten as following:

 $\mathcal{P}2: Maximize_{\overrightarrow{w_k}, \overrightarrow{w_N}, A, \Phi, B,} \left\{ \min_k R_k \right\} = Maximize \left\{ \min_k \{ \gamma_{U,k} - \beta_{E,k} \} \right\}$ (3.2.1)

$$C1: \qquad \sum_{K} \|\overline{w_{k}}\|^{2} + \|\overline{w_{N}}\|^{2} \leq P_{BS \ Budget},$$

$$C2: \|BG(w_{k} + w_{N})\|^{2} + \sigma_{I}^{2}\|B(w_{k} + w_{N})\|^{2} \leq P_{IRS \ Budget},$$

$$C3: R_{E,k} \leq C_{K \ max} , \forall k,$$

$$\Leftrightarrow C3: \log_{2} \left(det(I_{k} + Q^{-1}F_{eq}w_{k}w_{k}^{H}F_{eq}^{H})\right) \leq C_{K \ max} , \forall k,$$

$$\overline{C4}: \qquad B = \operatorname{diag}(\alpha_{1}, \dots, \alpha_{N}), \alpha \in \{0, \pi\},$$

$$C5: \gamma_{U,k} \leq R_{U,k} \ \forall k,$$

$$C6: \beta_{E,k} \geq R_{E,k} \ \forall k,$$

Consequently, let the maximum achievable security rate can be express as $\ell = \gamma_{U,k} - \beta_{E,k}$, then we get $\mathcal{P}3$ as following [60]:

$$\mathcal{P}3: Maximize_{\substack{\overrightarrow{w_k}, \overrightarrow{w_N}, A, \Phi, B\\\alpha_N, \gamma_{U,k}, \beta_{E,k}}} \left\{ \min_k R_k \right\} = Maximize \ \ell$$
(3.2.2)

s.t.

$$C1, C2, C3, \overline{C4}, C5, C6$$

 $C7: \ell \leq R_{U,k} \quad \forall k$

Then, we introduce the following step to simplifying the considered constraint for the optimization problem. Handle $R_{U,k}$ $\forall k$ as following:

$$R_{U,k} = \log_2(1 + SINR_k), \tag{3.2.3}$$

$$SINR_{k} = \frac{\left| \left(h_{t,k}^{H} BG + h_{d,k}^{H} \right) \overline{w_{k}} \right|^{2}}{\sum_{i \neq k} \left| \left(h_{t,k}^{H} BG + h_{d,k}^{H} \right) \overline{w_{i}} \right|^{2} + \left| \left(h_{t,k}^{H} BG + h_{d,k}^{H} \right) \overline{w_{i}} \right|^{2} + B\sigma_{l}^{2} + \sigma_{n}^{2}}, \qquad (3.2.4)$$

$$R_{U,k} = \log_2 \left(1 + \frac{\left| \left(h_{t,k}^H BG + h_{d,k}^H \right) \overrightarrow{w_k} \right|^2}{\sum_{j \neq k} \left| \left(h_{t,k}^H BG + h_{d,k}^H \right) \overrightarrow{w_j} \right|^2 + \left| \left(h_{t,k}^H BG + h_{d,k}^H \right) \overrightarrow{w_N} \right|^2 + B\sigma_I^2 + \sigma_n^2} \right), (3.2.5)$$

Firstly tackling *C*5: Rewrite the numerator of (3.2.4) as $\Delta N_{U,k}$, also rewrite the denominator of (3.2.4) as $\Delta D_{U,k}$:

$$\overline{C5}: \gamma_{U,k} \leq R_{U,k} = \log_2 \left(1 + \frac{\Delta \mathcal{N}_{U,k}}{\Delta \mathcal{D}_{U,k}} \right), \forall k,$$
$$\Leftrightarrow \overline{C5}: (2^{\gamma_{U,k}} - 1) \leq \frac{\Delta \mathcal{N}_{U,k}}{\Delta \mathcal{D}_{U,k}}, \forall k,$$
$$\Leftrightarrow \overline{C5}: (2^{\gamma_{U,k}} - 1) \Delta \mathcal{D}_{U,k} \leq \Delta \mathcal{N}_{U,k}, \forall k,$$

Now, handling $R_{E,k}$

$$R_{E,k} = \log_2\left(det\left(I_k + Q^{-1}F_{eq}w_k w_k^H F_{eq}^H\right)\right) , \forall k,$$
(3.2.6)

Then tackling *C*6 and *C*3:

$$C3: R_{E,k} \leq C_{K \max} ,$$

 \Leftrightarrow

$$\overline{C3}: \log_2\left(det\left(I_k + Q^{-1}F_{eq}w_k w_k^H F_{eq}^H\right)\right) \le C_{K \max} , \forall k,$$

Proposition 1. Since $Q^{-\frac{1}{2}}F_{eq}w_kw_k^HF_{eq}^HQ^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ is a rank-one matrix, C3 in $\mathcal{P}1$ can be transformed as its equivalent function as:

$$\begin{split} \overline{C3}: C \ ^{Tol}_{E,k} \left(F_{eq} w_k w_k^H F_{eq}^H + \mathbf{h}_{te,k} (\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{A}) \Phi \Phi^H h_{te,k}^H + \sigma_I^2 \mathbf{h}_{te,k} \Phi \Phi^H h_{te,k}^H \right) - F_{eq} w_k w_k^H F_{eq}^H \geqslant 0, \\ & \text{Proof reference Appendix I.} \\ & where \ C \ ^{Tol}_{E,k} = 2^{C_K \max} - 1. \\ & \text{Proof. reference Appendix A.} \\ & C6: \beta_{E,k} \ge R_{E,k} \ \forall k, \\ \Leftrightarrow C6: \beta_{E,k} \ge \log_2 \left(det \left(I_k + Q^{-1} F_{eq} w_k w_k^H F_{eq}^H \right) \right) \ , \forall k \\ \Leftrightarrow C6: \beta_{E,k} \ge \log_2 \left(1 + \left(F_{eq} w_k Q^{-1} w_k^H F_{eq}^H \right) \right) \ , \forall k \\ \Leftrightarrow C6: 2^{\beta_{E,k}} - 1 \ge F_{eq} w_k Q^{-1} w_k^H F_{eq}^H \ , \forall k \\ \Leftrightarrow \overline{C6}: \left(2^{\beta_{E,k}} - 1 \right) (Q) - F_{eq} w_k w_k^H F_{eq}^H \geqslant 0 \ , \forall k \end{split}$$

Therefore, the $\mathcal{P}3$ can be rewritten as following:

$$\mathcal{P}4: Maximize_{\overrightarrow{w_{k}, \overrightarrow{w_{N}, A}, \Phi, B,}}_{\substack{\gamma_{U,k}, \beta_{E,k}, \\ \ell}} \left\{ \min_{k} R_{k} \right\} = Maximize \left\{ \min_{k} \{\ell\} \right\}$$
(3.2.7)

Furthermore, we use AO algorithm to obtain a sub-optimal solution to the problem $\mathcal{P}4$.We implement alternate optimization in terms of $\{\overrightarrow{w_k}, \overrightarrow{w_N}\}$ and $\{\gamma_{U,k}, \beta_{E,k}, \ell\}$ and $\{B\}$ via fixing the other variables, respectively.

Algorithm 1 The alternating Optimization Algorithm

- 1: Let $B = A\Phi$
- 2: Replace $R_{U,k}$ by $\gamma_{U,k}$; $R_{E,k}$
- 3: Equivalent the original optimize problem as $\ell = \gamma_{U,k} \beta_{E,k}$ with constrains 7
- 4: Handling $R_{U,k}$,tackling constrains 5
- 5: Handling $R_{E,k}$ tackling constrains 3 and 6
- 6: Adopt AO algorithm to obtain a sub-optimal solution to the problem $\mathcal{P}4$

3.2.1 Sub-problem 1: Optimization of Artificial Noise and Precoder Vector at the Base

Station

Sub-problem 1 optimizes the beamforming vector w_k of precoder for user k, w_N , the beamforming vector of artificial noise. By defining $W_k = w_k w_k^H$ [29][49], problem $\mathcal{P}4$ can be equivalent rewritten as:

$$\mathcal{P}5: Maximize_{\overrightarrow{Wk},\overrightarrow{Wn},A,\Phi,B,} \left\{ \min_{k} R_{k} \right\} = Maximize_{\overrightarrow{Wk},\overrightarrow{Wn},A,\Phi,B,} \left\{ \ell \right\}$$
(3.2.1.1)

$$\begin{array}{c} \forall U_{k},\beta_{E,k}, \\ \ell,W_{k} \end{array}$$
(3.2.1.1)

$$\begin{array}{c} YU_{k},\beta_{E,k}, \\ \ell,W_{k} \end{array}$$
(3.2.1.1)

$$\begin{array}{c} S.t. \\ C1: \\ C1: \\ \sum_{K} ||\overrightarrow{W_{k}}||^{2} + ||\overrightarrow{W_{N}}||^{2} \leq P_{BS \ Budget}, \\ C2: ||BG(w_{k} + w_{N})||^{2} + \sigma_{l}^{2} ||B(w_{k} + w_{N})||^{2} \leq P_{IRS \ Budget}, \\ \hline{C3:} C \ E_{k} \left\{ F_{eq} w_{N} w_{N}^{H} F_{eq}^{H} + h_{te,k} (1 - A) \Phi \Phi^{H} h_{te,k}^{H} + \sigma_{l}^{2} h_{te,k} \Phi \Phi^{H} h_{te,k}^{H} \right\} - F_{eq} W_{k} F_{eq}^{H} \geqslant 0, \forall k, \\ \hline{C4: } B = \operatorname{diag}(\alpha_{1}, \dots, \alpha_{N}), \alpha \in \{0, \pi\}, \\ \hline{C5: } (2^{\gamma_{U,k}} - 1) \Delta \mathcal{D}_{U,k} \leq \Delta \mathcal{N}_{U,k}, \forall k, \\ \hline{C6: } (2^{\beta_{E,k}} - 1) \left(\left| F_{eq} w_{N} w_{N}^{H} F_{eq}^{H} \right|^{2} + \sigma_{l}^{2} \operatorname{Ah}_{te,k} \Phi \Phi^{H} h_{te,k}^{H} + \sum_{K-1} \left| F_{eq} W_{k} F_{eq}^{H} \right|^{2} \right) - F_{eq} W_{k} F_{eq}^{H} \\ \geqslant 0, \forall k, \\ C7: \quad \ell \leq R_{U,k}, \forall k, \\ C8: \quad W_{k} \geqslant 0, \forall k, \\ C9: \quad Rank(W_{k}) \leq 1, \forall k, \end{array}$$

Now, we adopt SDR by removing the rank=1 constraint in C9 such that the result problem in convex.

Algorithm 2 SDR-based Active IRS Optimization Algorithm

- 1: Present the beamforming matrix of transmitter signal as $W_k = w_k w_k^H$
- 2: Rewrite the alternating function as $\mathcal{P}5$,at the same time rewrite all the constrains
- 3: Adopt SDR to remove rank constraint
- 4: Repeat
- 5: Until convergence

In the following theorem we show that the adopted SDR is tight.

Theorem 1. If $\mathcal{P}5$ is feasible, a rank equal one solution of W_k in (3.2.1.1) can always be constructed. By exploiting the Karush-Kuhn-Tucker (KKT) conditions of $\mathcal{P}5$, it can be proved that there always exists a rank equal one solution of W_k to ensure a bounded solution of $\mathcal{P}5[50]$.

Then, adopt Karush-Kuhn-Tucker (KKT) conditions by introducing the corresponding Lagrangian and the dual problem [48][54], the Lagrangian of (3.2.1.1) can be expressed as [58]:

$$\mathcal{L}(\ell, W_{k}, \overline{w_{k}}, \overline{w_{N}}, A, \Phi, B, \gamma_{U,k}, \beta_{E,k}, \chi_{k}, \mathcal{Y}_{k}, Z_{k}, \mu_{k}, v_{k})$$

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{K} \ell + \sum_{k=1}^{K} Tr\{\chi_{k}[F_{eq}W_{k}F_{eq}^{H} - C \frac{Tol}{E,k}(F_{eq}W_{N}W_{N}^{H}F_{eq}^{H} + h_{te,k}(I - A)\Phi\Phi^{H}h_{te,k}^{H} + \sigma_{l}^{2}h_{te,k}\Phi\Phi^{H}h_{te,k}^{H})]\}$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{K} Tr\{Z_{k}\left[F_{eq}W_{k}F_{eq}^{H} - (2^{\beta_{E,k}} - 1)\left(\left|F_{eq}W_{N}W_{N}^{H}F_{eq}^{H}\right|^{2} + \sigma_{l}^{2}Ah_{te,k}\Phi\Phi^{H}h_{te,k}^{H} + \sum_{k=1}|F_{eq}W_{k}F_{eq}^{H}|^{2}\right)\right]\}$$

$$- \sum_{k=1}^{K} Tr\{\mathcal{V}_{k}W_{k}\} + \mu[Tr\sum_{k=1}^{K}(W_{k}) + \sum_{k=1}^{K}(w_{N}w_{N}^{H})] - P_{BS Budget}\}$$

$$+ v[Tr\sum_{k=1}^{K}(B^{H}G^{H}W_{k}BG + B^{H}G^{H}w_{N}w_{N}^{H}BG)$$

$$+ \sigma_{l}^{2}Tr\sum_{k=1}^{K}(B^{H}W_{k}B + B^{H}w_{N}w_{N}^{H}B) - P_{IRS Budget}]$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{K}\{\rho_{k}[(2^{\gamma_{U,k}} - 1)\Delta\mathcal{D}_{U,k} - \Delta\mathcal{N}_{U,k}]\} + \sum_{k=1}^{K}\{\eta_{k}[(\ell - R_{U,k})]\}$$

Where X_k, Z_k and V_k are the dual variable matrices of the constraints $\overline{C3}, \overline{C6}$ and *C*8 ,respectively. μ, ν, ρ_k and η_k are the scalar dual variables of constrains *C*1, *C*2, $\overline{C5}$ and *C*7 respectively [56].

On the other hands, constrains $\overline{C4}$ and C9 will be illustrated in the later part.

Then, the dual problem of SDR optimization problem in (3.2.1.1) is given by:

$$\begin{array}{c} maximize_{\mathcal{X}_{k},\mathcal{Z}_{k},\mathcal{V}_{k},} \ minimize_{\overrightarrow{w_{k}},\overrightarrow{w_{N}},A,\Phi,B,\mathcal{L}}(\ell,W_{k},\overrightarrow{w_{k}},\overrightarrow{w_{N}},A,\Phi,B,\gamma_{U,k},\beta_{E,k},\mathcal{X}_{k},\mathcal{Z}_{k},\mathcal{V}_{k},\mu,\nu,\rho_{k}) \\ \mu,\nu, & \gamma_{U,k},\beta_{E,k}, \\ \rho_{k} & \ell,W_{k} \end{array}$$

(3.2.1.3)

Since the SDR optimization problem in (3.2.1.1) satisfied constraint qualification and is jointly convex with respect to the optimization variables [47], solving (3.2.1.3) is equivalent to solving (3.2.1.1) [59].

By defining $\{\ell, W_k, \overline{w_k}, \overline{w_N}, A, \Phi, B, \gamma_{U,k}, \beta_{E,k}\}$ and $\{\mathcal{X}_k, \mathcal{Z}_k, \mathcal{V}_k, \mu, \nu, \rho_k\}$ as the optimal primal solution and the optimal dual solution of (3.2.1.1), now we operating the KKT conditions[53]. The KKT conditions:

1) Gradient of the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}(\ell, W_k, \overline{W_k}, \overline{W_N}, A, \Phi, B, \gamma_{U,k}, \beta_{E,k}, \mathcal{X}_k, \mathcal{Y}_k, \mathcal{V}_k, \mu, \nu, \rho_k) = 0, \forall k \quad (3.2.1.4)$$

2) Let all constrains in terms of

$$h(x) = 0(equality \ constrians)$$
$$g(x) \le 0(inequality \ constrains)$$

After adopting KKT conditions we obtain

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial W_k} = \mathcal{X}_k F_{eq} F_{eq}^H + \mathcal{Z}_k F_{eq} F_{eq}^H - (2^{\beta_{E,k}} - 1) \mathcal{Z}_k F_{eq} F_{eq}^H - \mathcal{V}_k + \mu \mathbf{I} + \nu \mathbf{B}^H \mathbf{G}^H \mathbf{B} \mathbf{G} + \nu \sigma_l^2 \mathbf{B}^H B, \forall k, \qquad (3.2.1.5)$$

Then [52],

$$\begin{aligned} \chi_{k}F_{eq}F_{eq}^{H} + Z_{k}F_{eq}F_{eq}^{H} - (2^{\beta_{E,k}} - 1)Z_{k}F_{eq}F_{eq}^{H} - \mathcal{V}_{k} + \mu I_{k} + \nu B^{H}G^{H}BG + \nu\sigma_{I}^{2}B^{H}B \\ = 0, \end{aligned}$$
(3.2.1.6)

Then,

$$\mathcal{V}_{k} = \mu I_{k} + \mathcal{X}_{k} F_{eq} F_{eq}^{H} + \mathcal{Z}_{k} F_{eq} F_{eq}^{H} - (2^{\beta_{E,k}} - 1) \mathcal{Z}_{k} F_{eq} F_{eq}^{H} + \nu B^{H} G^{H} BG + \nu \sigma_{I}^{2} B^{H} B, \qquad (3.2.1.7)$$

It can be observed from (3.2.1.7) that the structure of W_k depends on the space spanned by \mathcal{V}_k , without loss generality, we denote $r_{V,k} = Rank(\mathcal{V}_k)$, $r_{W,k} = Rank(W_k)$. In this case, we investigate the structure of W_k when \mathcal{V}_k is a full-rank matrix, i.e., $r_{V,k} = N$. By exploiting (3.2.1.7) and a basic inequality for the rank of matrices, we have:

- 1) $\mu > 0$,
- 2) $Rank(\mathcal{V}_k) = N 1 \Leftrightarrow Rank(W_k) = 1.$

Proof. Please refer to the Appendix B.

Chapter 4

Simulation Results



Figure 4.1: System setup for the simulation.

In this paragraph, we simulated to get the result of the proposed algorithm based on the active IRS-assisted network. As shown in figure 4.1[55], we proposed this system has K=3 users which receive transmit signal from the BS, a single active IRS board with 30 independent elements allocated between the BS and the users. The location of BS, active IRS, K users and the eavesdropper are set in (0,0), (60.20), {(100,10), (100, -10), (100,0)}, and (80,20) respectively in Cartesian coordinate system. In addition, we use the path loss model in [31], set the reference distance as 1m.

The path loss exponents of the BS to active IRS (BS - IRS), the active-IRS to user $k(IRS - user_k)$, the BS to User $k(BS - user_k)$, the active-IRS to the eavesdropper (IRS - EAV), the directly channel from BS to the eavesdropper (BS - EAV) are $\eta_{BI} = 2.6$, $\eta_{IU,k} = 2.6$, $\eta_{BU,k} = 3.5$, $\eta_{IE} = 2.6$, $\eta_{BE} = 3.5$ respectively. Setting the centre frequency as 2. 4GHz.The number of the active IRS elements, the BS's antennas and the eavesdropper's antennas are 30, $N_T = 3/6/9$ and $N_E = 2$, respectively. The Rician factors of the BS to active IRS (BS - IRS), the active-IRS to user $k(IRS - user_k)$, the BS to User $k(BS - user_k)$, the

active-IRS to the eavesdropper (IRS - EAV), the directly channel from BS to the eavesdropper (BS - EAV) are $\beta_{BI} = 3$, $\beta_{IU,k} = 3$, $\beta_{BU,k} = 0$, $\beta_{IE} = 3$, $\beta_{BE} = 0$ respectively.

The maximum tolerable information leakage to the eavesdropper for wiretapping the signals transmitted to user k is limited to $C_{K max} = 1.6 bit/s/Hz$ for all users. The power that active-IRS can amplify the signal is limited by the maximum power of IRS itself as $P_{IRS max} = 10 dBm$.

Simulation related parameters are listed in table 4.1.

Noise power at user k	$\sigma_{U,k}^2 = -100 dBm$
Noise power at active IRS	$\sigma_I^2 = -100 \ dBm$
Power budget at BS	$P_{BS,Budget} = 30 \ dBm$
Active IRS elements num	M=30
User num	К=3
IRS maximum power	$P_{IRSmax} = 10 dBm$
Rician factors $(BS - IRS)$	$\beta_{BI} = 3$
Rician factors $(IRS - user_k)$	$\beta_{IU,k} = 3$
Rician factors $(BS - user_k)$	$\beta_{BU,k} = 0$
Rician factors($IRS - EAV$)	$\beta_{IE} = 3$
Rician factors $(BS - EAV)$	$\beta_{BE}=0$
The path loss exponents $(BS - IRS)$	$\eta_{BI} = 2.6$
The path loss exponents $(IRS - user_k)$	$\eta_{IU,k} = 2.6$
The path loss exponents $(BS - user_k)$	$\eta_{BU,k} = 3.5$
The path loss exponents $(IRS - EAV)$	$\eta_{IE} = 2.6$
The path loss exponents $(BS - EAV)$	$\eta_{BE} = 3.5$

Table 4.1: System Parameters

4.1 Average minimum secrecy rate with different number of active IRS elements under certain BS Power budget

In this part, we simulated the average minimum secrecy rate in a system which exist 3 users and one eavesdropper equipped with muti-antennas. The system has certain BS station power budget which equal 30 dBm. We simulated in 3 different scenarios which the BS equipped with different antennas numbers to obtain their average minimum secrecy rate. At the same time, we increase the number of active IRS elements to get the trend of average minimum secrecy rate.



Figure 4.2: Average minimum secrecy rate when users K=3, $P_{BS,Budget} = 30 \ dBm$.

Figure 4.2 demonstrate the average minimum secrecy rate versus the number of active IRS elements, as shown in the figure, the average minimum secrecy rate keeps increasing when the active IRS equipped with more elements. Moreover, when we fix the number of active IRS elements, we will obtain higher average minimum secrecy rate when the BS equipped with more antennas.

In contract, due to limited DoF and insufficient flexibility to optimize system resources, when the antennas number of eavesdropper lager than BS, especially with the increase of eavesdropper's number, eavesdroppers can enjoy more spatial freedom to achieve more effective eavesdropping which means the system will get lower average minimum secrecy rate.

Therefore, in an actual communication system, higher power is allocated both at the antennas of BS and the active IRS to offset the eavesdropper's decoding ability, but this solution will increase the total power consumption in the system. To improve this scenario, we can increase the number of active IRS elements to reduce average system power consumption. In fact, the additional spatial DoF provided by the additional IRS elements provides greater flexibility to enhance the signal quality between the BS and the user while effectively reducing information leakage to eavesdroppers.

4.2 Average minimum secrecy rate with certain number of active IRS elements under different power budget

In this section, we fixed the number of IRS elements as 30. The system exists 3 users and one muti-antennas eavesdropper, we calculated the average minimum secrecy rate under different BS power budget. Then we changed the BS equipped antennas number to explore the average minimum secrecy rate under different scenario.



Figure 4.3: Average minimum secrecy rate when users K=3, *IRS elments* = 30.

Figure 4.3 illustrates the average minimum secrecy rate versus the different power consumption budget at BS. As shown in this figure, under certain BS power budget, system will obtain higher average minimum secrecy rate when we increase the number of antennas at BS. It is obviously that the system gets better performance when the BS power budget increase. While in actual system the BS power budget cannot be increased continuously.

Chapter 5

Conclusion

5.1 Summary of Simulation Results

In this thesis, we simulated a communication system equipped active IRS board in the MISO system which exist multi-antennas eavesdropper [61][62]. We investigated that both the active IRS board and the base station can launch the artificial noise to increase the security communication rate when multi antennas eavesdropper exist in downlink communication. A maximize security rate problem was defined as a non-convex problem while guaranteeing the limited power budget. Our design optimized the beamforming matrix at transmitter side and the amplitude, phase of each active IRS board elements at the same time [63], [64], [65].

We adopted the AO algorithm and SDR techniques to design a suboptimal solution [57], simulation results unveiled that under certain BS power budget we can obtain higher average minimum secrecy rate by increasing active IRS elements number or equipped more antennas at the BS.

Furthermore, with fixed active IRS elements number, we obtain higher average minimum secrecy rate when we keep increasing the BS power budget, but it obviously that the BS power budget is a limited resource and cannot be increased infinitely.

5.2 Future work

In this thesis, from the first part of simulation we can get the conclusion of that with more adjustable active IRS elements we can achieve higher average minimum secrecy rates. Moreover, we haven't investigated that with a large number of elements include [66], [67], more interference also included in the system, there must exist an optimal number of elements for the system to achieve optimal average minimum secrecy rate. Therefore, future work can be considered to continue in the following two directions. First, this thesis only explores limited number of active IRS elements. Then, future work can focus on illustrate system achievable rate with more active IRS elements, until find the optimal value. Second, we should consider the interference between each element, especially when there are a large number of elements.

From the second part of simulation, we fixed the number of active IRS elements and tried to keep increasing both the BS power budget and the BS equipped antennas number to investigate whether we can get higher average minimum secrecy rate. Furthermore, we should consider that when the number of eavesdropper antennas exceeds that of the BS, what kind of situation the system will meet and what the proposed scheme can still provide secure communication.

On the other hand, we can apply active IRS to various emerging wireless applications, e.g., integrated and sensing communication (ISAC) [68]-[71], movable antenna systems [72], [73], near-field communication [74]-[77], and distributed communication networks [78].

Appendix A

According to [46] Weinstein-Aronszajn identity:

$$det(I + AB) = det(I + AB)$$

And thus $Rate_{E,k}$ in constraint C3 of $\mathcal{P}1$ is equivalent as:

$$\log_2\left(det\left(I_k + Q^{-1}F_{eq}w_k w_k^H F_{eq}^H\right)\right) \le C_{K \max} , \forall k, \qquad (A.1)$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \log_2\left(det\left(1 + Tr(w_k^H F_{eq}^H Q^{-1} F_{eq} w_k)\right)\right) \le C_{K \max} , \forall k, \qquad (A.2)$$

$$\Leftrightarrow w_k^H F_{eq}^H Q^{-1} F_{eq} w_k \le C_{E,k}^{Tol}, \tag{A.3}$$

$$\Leftrightarrow Tr(Q^{-1}F_{eq}w_k w_k^H F_{eq}^H) \le C_{E,k}^{Tol}, \qquad (A.4)$$

$$\Leftrightarrow_a \lambda_{max} \left\{ Q^{-\frac{1}{2}} F_{eq} w_k w_k^H F_{eq}^H Q^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right\} \le C_{E,k}^{Tol}, \tag{A.5}$$

$$\Leftrightarrow C_{E,k}^{Tol}Q - F_{eq}w_k w_k^H F_{eq}^H \ge 0, \tag{A.6}$$

Appendix B

To exploit the rank of the matrix ,we denote $r_{V,k} = Rank(\mathcal{V}_k)$, $r_{W,k} = Rank(W_k)$. In this case, we first focus on matrix \mathcal{V}_k is a full-rank matrix with $r_{V,k} = N$.

Regarding to the equation:

$$\mathcal{V}_{k} = \mu \mathbf{I}_{k} + \mathcal{X}_{k} F_{eq} F_{eq}^{H} + \nu \mathbf{B}^{H} \mathbf{G}^{H} \mathbf{B} \mathbf{G} + \nu \sigma_{I}^{2} \mathbf{B}^{H} \mathbf{B} - 2^{\beta_{E,k}} \mathcal{Z}_{k} F_{eq} F_{eq}^{H}, \qquad (B.1)$$

We define \mathcal{M}_k , the expression is given as:

$$\mathcal{M}_{k} = \mu \mathbf{I}_{k} + \mathcal{X}_{k} F_{eq} F_{eq}^{H} + \nu \mathbf{B}^{H} \mathbf{G}^{H} \mathbf{B} \mathbf{G} + \nu \sigma_{I}^{2} \mathbf{B}^{H} \mathbf{B}, \qquad (B.2)$$

Then, we rewrite the first equation as:

$$\mathcal{V}_k = \mathcal{M}_k - 2^{\beta_{E,k}} \mathcal{Z}_k F_{eq} F_{eq}^H, \tag{B.3}$$

For full rank scenario: When Matrix \mathcal{M}_k is a full rank matrix. Since I_k is a full rank matrix:

$$\mathcal{V}_k W_k = 0, \forall k,$$

Cause $W_k = 0$ means we transform nothing, as a result:

$$W_k \neq 0, \forall k$$

Based on the property of rank, we could rewrite a as follows:

$$Rank(\mathcal{V}_k) \ge Rank(\mathcal{M}_k) - Rank(\mathcal{Z}_k) = N - 1, \qquad (B.4)$$

We assume $Rank(\mathcal{V}_k) = N - 1$, considering the condition $\mathcal{V}_k W_k = 0$, their rank relationship following:

$$Rank(\mathcal{V}_k) = N - Rank(W_k),$$

$$\Rightarrow Rank(W_k) = N - (N - 1) = 1, \qquad (B.5)$$

Bibliography

[1] X. Yu, D. Xu, Y. Sun, D. W. K. Ng and R. Schober, "Robust and Secure Wireless Communications via Intelligent Reflecting Surfaces," in IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications, vol. 38, no. 11, pp. 2637-2652, Nov. 2020.

[2] D. Xu, X. Yu, Y. Sun, D. W. K. Ng and R. Schober, "Resource Allocation for IRS-Assisted Full-Duplex Cognitive Radio Systems," in IEEE Transactions on Communications, vol. 68, no. 12, pp. 7376-7394, Dec. 2020.

[3] Y. Li, C. You and Y. J. Chun, "Active-IRS Aided Wireless Network: System Modelling and Performance Analysis," in *IEEE Communications Letters*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 487-491, Feb. 2023.
[4] L. Liu, D. Peng and Y. Li, "Intelligent Reflecting Surface Aided Secure Transmission with Energy Harvesting Eavesdropper," *2021 13th International Conference on Wireless Communications and Signal Processing (WCSP)*, Changsha, China, 2021, pp. 1-5.

[5] J. Zhang, L. Fu and X. Wang, "Asymptotic Analysis on Secrecy Capacity in Large-Scale Wireless Networks," in *IEEE/ACM Transactions on Networking*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 66-79, Feb. 2014.

[6] Y. Sun, D. W. K. Ng, J. Zhu and R. Schober, "Robust and Secure Resource Allocation for Full-Duplex MISO Multicarrier NOMA Systems," in *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 66, no. 9, pp. 4119-4137, Sept. 2018.

[7] S. Hu, C. Liu, D. W. K. Ng and J. Yuan, "Secure Communication in Multifunctional Active Intelligent Reflection Surface-assisted Systems," *WSA & SCC 2023; 26th International ITG Workshop on Smart Antennas and 13th Conference on Systems, Communications, and Coding,* Braunschweig, Germany, 2023, pp. 1-6.

[8] S. Suyama, T. Okuyama, N. Nonaka and T. Asai, "Recent Studies on Massive MIMO Technologies for 5G Evolution and 6G," *2022 IEEE Radio and Wireless Symposium (RWS)*, Las Vegas, NV, USA, 2022, pp. 90-93.

[9] D. Singh, "Features Architecture and Security Issues in 5G and 6G Communication," 2022 8th International Conference on Signal Processing and Communication (ICSC), Noida, India, 2022, pp. 117-120. [10] H. Tataria, M. Shafi, A. F. Molisch, M. Dohler, H. Sjöland and F. Tufvesson, "6G Wireless Systems: Vision, Requirements, Challenges, Insights, and Opportunities," in *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 109, no. 7, pp. 1166-1199, July 2021.

[11] Y. Corre et al., "Sub-THz spectrum as enabler for 6G wireless communications up to 1 Tbit/s", *Proc. 6G Wireless Summit*, pp. 1-2, Mar. 2019.

[12] O. L. A. López, H. Alves, R. D. Souza, S. Montejo-Sánchez, E. M. G. Fernández and M. Latva-Aho, "Massive wireless energy transfer: Enabling sustainable IoT towards 6G era", *arXiv:1912.05322*, Dec. 2019.

[13] H. -J. Song and T. Nagatsuma, "Present and Future of Terahertz Communications," in *IEEE Transactions on Terahertz Science and Technology*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 256-263, Sept. 2011.

[14] K. B. Letaief, W. Chen, Y. Shi, J. Zhang and Y. -J. A. Zhang, "The Roadmap to 6G: AI Empowered Wireless Networks," in *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 57, no. 8, pp. 84-90, August 2019.

[15] J. Arata *et al.*, "A remote surgery experiment between Japan and Thailand over Internet using a low latency CODEC system," *Proceedings 2007 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation*, Rome, Italy, 2007, pp. 953-959.

[16] K. Antonakoglou, X. Xu, E. Steinbach, T. Mahmoodi and M. Dohler, "Toward haptic communications over the 5G tactile Internet", *IEEE Commun. Surveys Tuts.*, vol. 20, no. 4, pp. 3034-3059, Apr. 2018.

[17] M. Shahbazi, S. F. Atashzar and R. V. Patel, "A systematic review of multilateral teleoperation systems", *IEEE Trans. Haptics*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 338-356, Jul. 2018.

[18] M. T. Vega, T. Mehmli, J. V. D. Hooft, T. Wauters and F. D. Turck, "Enabling virtual reality for the tactile Internet: Hurdles and opportunities", *Proc. 14th Int. Conf. Netw. Service Manage. (CNSM)*, pp. 378-383, Nov. 2018.

[19] Z. Zhang *et al.*, "Active RIS vs. Passive RIS: Which Will Prevail in 6G?" in *IEEE Transactions* on *Communications*, vol. 71, no. 3, pp. 1707-1725, March 2023.

[20] J. Xu, X. Mu, J. T. Zhou and Y. Liu, "Simultaneously Transmitting and Reflecting (STAR)-RISs: Are They Applicable to Dual-Sided Incidence?" in *IEEE Wireless Communications Letters*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 129-133, Jan. 2023.

[21] L. You, J. Xiong, D. W. K. Ng, C. Yuen, W. Wang and X. Gao, "Energy Efficiency and Spectral Efficiency Tradeoff in RIS-Aided Multiuser MIMO Uplink Transmission," in IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing, vol. 69, pp. 1407-1421, 2021.

[22] Y. Liu et al., "STAR: Simultaneous Transmission and Reflection for 360° Coverage by Intelligent Surfaces," in IEEE Wireless Communications, vol. 28, no. 6, pp. 102-109, December 2021.

[23] J. An *et al.*, "Stacked Intelligent Metasurface-Aided MIMO Transceiver Design," in *IEEE Wireless Communications*.

[24] W. Mei and R. Zhang, "Intelligent Reflecting Surface for Multi-Path Beam Routing With Active/Passive Beam Splitting and Combining," in *IEEE Communications Letters*, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 1165-1169, May 2022.

[25] J. Lyu and R. Zhang, "Hybrid Active/Passive Wireless Network Aided by Intelligent Reflecting Surface: System Modeling and Performance Analysis," in *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 20, no. 11, pp. 7196-7212, Nov. 2021.

[26] L. Du, C. Huang, W. Guo, J. Ma, X. Ma and Y. Tang, "Reconfigurable Intelligent Surfaces Assisted Secure Multicast Communications," in *IEEE Wireless Communications Letters*, vol. 9, no. 10, pp. 1673-1676, Oct. 2020.

[27] L. You, J. Wang, W. Wang and X. Gao, "Secure multicast transmission for massive MIMO with statistical channel state information", *IEEE Signal Process. Lett.*, vol. 26, no. 6, pp. 803-807, Jun. 2019.

[28] Y. Sun, D. W. K. Ng, J. Zhu, and R. Schober, "Robust and secure resource allocation for fullduplex MISO multicarrier NOMA systems," IEEE Trans. on Commun., vol. 66, no. 9, pp. 4119– 4137, Sep. 2018.

[29] S. Hu, C. Liu, D. W. K. Ng and J. Yuan, "Secure Communication in Multifunctional Active Intelligent Reflection Surface-assisted Systems," *WSA & SCC 2023; 26th International ITG Workshop on Smart Antennas and 13th Conference on Systems, Communications, and Coding*, Braunschweig, Germany, 2023, pp. 1-6.

[30] W. T. Chishiri and K. Kumar, "Analysis of Beamforming Performance in 5G Communication," *2023 3rd International Conference on Intelligent Technologies (CONIT)*, Hubli, India, 2023, pp. 1-4.

[31] Q. Wu and R. Zhang, "Intelligent Reflecting Surface Enhanced Wireless Network via Joint Active and Passive Beamforming," in *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 18, no. 11, pp. 5394-5409, Nov. 2019.

[32] Xintong Chen, Jiangbin Lyu, Liqun Fu, "IRS-Aided Sectorized Base Station Design and 3D Coverage Performance Analysis", *2023 IEEE/ACM 31st International Symposium on Quality of Service (IWQoS)*, pp.01-10, 2023.

[33] W. Mei, B. Zheng, C. You and R. Zhang, "Intelligent reflecting surface-aided wireless networks: From single-reflection to multireflection design and optimization", *Proc. IEEE*, vol. 110, no. 9, pp. 1380-1400, Sep. 2022.

[34] B. Zheng, C. You, W. Mei and R. Zhang, "A Survey on Channel Estimation and Practical Passive Beamforming Design for Intelligent Reflecting Surface Aided Wireless Communications," in *IEEE Communications Surveys & Tutorials*, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 1035-1071, Secondquarter 2022.

[35] X. Chen, J. Shi, Z. Yang and L. Wu, "Low-complexity channel estimation for intelligent reflecting surface-enhanced massive MIMO", *IEEE Wireless Commun. Lett.*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 996-1000, May 2021.

[36] M. Jian and Y. Zhao, "A modified off-grid SBL channel estimation and transmission strategy for RIS-assisted wireless communication systems", *Proc. Int. Wireless Commun. Mobile Comput. (IWCMC)*, pp. 1848-1853, Jun. 2020.

[37] Y. Liang, S. Dang and A. Doufexi, "Hybrid Amplitude and Phase Coding for Intelligent Reflecting Surface Aided Channel Estimation," *2023 IEEE 97th Vehicular Technology Conference (VTC2023-Spring)*, Florence, Italy, 2023, pp. 1-5.

[38] R. A. Lashkarian, A. Pourkabirian, A. H. Moshfeghi and M. H. Anisi, "Statistical URLLC Provisioning in 6G Network Over Fading Channels," *2023 IEEE International Conference on Communications Workshops (ICC Workshops)*, Rome, Italy, 2023, pp. 1783-1788.

[39] X. Chen, Z. Chang, N. Zhao and T. Hämäläinen, "IRS-Based Secure UAV-Assisted Transmission with Location and Phase Shifting Optimization," *2023 IEEE International Conference on Communications Workshops (ICC Workshops)*, Rome, Italy, 2023, pp. 1672-1677.

[40] C. You, B. Zheng and R. Zhang, "Wireless Communication via Double IRS: Channel Estimation and Passive Beamforming Designs," in *IEEE Wireless Communications Letters*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 431-435, Feb. 2021.

[41] B. Zheng, C. You and R. Zhang, "Efficient Channel Estimation for Double-IRS Aided Multi-User MIMO System," in *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 69, no. 6, pp. 3818-3832, June 2021.

[42] W. Mei and R. Zhang, "Multi-Beam Multi-Hop Routing for Intelligent Reflecting Surfaces Aided Massive MIMO," in *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 1897-1912, March 2022.

[43] Xiaojun Yuan. (2022-08-17). Reconfigurable Intelligent Surface Aided MIMO: ChannelModeling,Optimization,andCapacityAnalysis.https://www.koushare.com/video/videodetail/32369

[44] C. You, B. Zheng and R. Zhang, "Fast Beam Training for IRS-Assisted Multiuser Communications," in IEEE Wireless Communications Letters, vol. 9, no. 11, pp. 1845-1849, Nov. 2020.

[45] Y. Wu, D. Xu, D. W. K. Ng, R. Schober and W. Gerstacker, "Globally Optimal Resource Allocation Design for IRS-Assisted Multiuser Networks with Discrete Phase Shifts," 2023 IEEE International Conference on Communications Workshops (ICC Workshops), Rome, Italy, 2023, pp. 1216-1221.

[46] J.J. Sylvester M.A. F.R.S. (1851) XXXVII. *On the relation between the minor determinants of linearly equivalent quadratic functions,* The London, Edinburgh, and Dublin Philosophical Magazine and Journal of Science, 1:4, 295-305.

[47] Shiyang Leng, D. W. K. Ng and R. Schober, "Power efficient and secure multiuser communication systems with wireless information and power transfer," *2014 IEEE International Conference on Communications Workshops (ICC)*, Sydney, NSW, Australia, 2014, pp. 800-806.

[48] D. W. K. Ng, E. S. Lo and R. Schober, "Wireless Information and Power Transfer: Energy Efficiency Optimization in OFDMA Systems," in *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 12, no. 12, pp. 6352-6370, December 2013.

[49] H. Shen, W. Xu, S. Gong, C. Zhao and D. W. K. Ng, "Beamforming Optimization for IRS-Aided Communications with Transceiver Hardware Impairments," in *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 69, no. 2, pp. 1214-1227, Feb. 2021

[50] Y. Wu, D. Xu, D. W. K. Ng, R. Schober and W. Gerstacker, "Globally Optimal Resource Allocation Design for IRS-Assisted Multiuser Networks with Discrete Phase Shifts," *2023 IEEE International Conference on Communications Workshops (ICC Workshops)*, Rome, Italy, 2023, pp. 1216-1221.

[51] H. Fu, S. Feng and D. W. Kwan Ng, "Resource Allocation Design for IRS-Aided Downlink MU-MISO RSMA Systems," *2021 IEEE International Conference on Communications Workshops (ICC Workshops)*, Montreal, QC, Canada, 2021, pp. 1-6

[52] G. Chen, Q. Wu, W. Chen, D. W. K. Ng and L. Hanzo, "IRS-Aided Wireless Powered MEC Systems: TDMA or NOMA for Computation Offloading?" in *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 1201-1218, Feb. 2023

[53] D. Xu, X. Yu, Y. Sun, D. W. K. Ng and R. Schober, "Resource Allocation for Secure IRS-Assisted Multiuser MISO Systems," *2019 IEEE Globecom Workshops (GC Wkshps)*, Waikoloa, HI, USA, 2019, pp. 1-6.

[54] Q. T. Dinh and M. Diehl, "Local convergence of sequential convex programming for nonconvex optimization", *Recent Advances in Optimization and its Applications in Engineering*, 2010.

[55] M. Grant and S. Boyd, "CVX: Matlab software for disciplined convex programming version
2.1", Mar. 2017, [online] Available: <u>http://cvxr.com/cvx</u>.

[56] Q. T. Dinh and M. Diehl, "Local convergence of sequential convex programming for nonconvex optimization", *Recent Advances in Optimization and its Applications in Engineering*, 2010.

[57] P.-A. Absil, R. Mahony and R. Sepulchre, Optimization algorithms on matrix manifolds, Princeton University Press, 2009.

[58] S. Boyd and L. Vandenberghe, Convex optimization, Cambridge university press, 2004.

[59] X. Yu, J. Shen, J. Zhang and K. B. Letaief, "Alternating minimization algorithms for hybrid precoding in millimeter wave MIMO systems", *IEEE J. Sel. Area Signal Process.*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 485-500, Apr. 2016.

[60] H. Xie, J. Xu, Y. -F. Liu, L. Liu and D. W. K. Ng, "User Grouping and Reflective Beamforming for IRS-Aided URLLC," in *IEEE Wireless Communications Letters*, vol. 10, no. 11, pp. 2533-2537, Nov. 2021.

[61] Y. Gao, J. Xu, W. Xu, D. W. K. Ng and M. -S. Alouini, "Distributed IRS With Statistical Passive Beamforming for MISO Communications," in *IEEE Wireless Communications Letters*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 221-225, Feb. 2021.

[62] T. C. Mai, H. Q. Ngo and T. Q. Duong, "Downlink spectral efficiency of cell-free massive MIMO systems with multi-antenna users", *Proc. IEEE GlobalSIP*, pp. 828-832, 2018.

[63] X. Yu, V. Jamali, D. Xu, D. W. K. Ng and R. Schober, "Smart and Reconfigurable Wireless Communications: From IRS Modeling to Algorithm Design," in *IEEE Wireless Communications*, vol. 28, no. 6, pp. 118-125, December 2021.

[64] Shaokang Hu; Derrick Wing Kwan Ng, "Beamforming Design for Self-Sustainable IRS-Assisted MISO Downlink Systems," in *Intelligent Surfaces Empowered 6G Wireless Network*, IEEE, 2024, pp.297-314.

[65] Z. Wei et al., "Sum-Rate Maximization for IRS-Assisted UAV OFDMA Communication Systems," in IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications, vol. 20, no. 4, pp. 2530-2550, April 2021,

[66] J. Liu, K. Xiong, Y. Lu, D. W. K. Ng, Z. Zhong and Z. Han, "Energy Efficiency in Secure IRS-Aided SWIPT," in IEEE Wireless Communications Letters, vol. 9, no. 11, pp. 1884-1888, Nov. 2020.

[67] G. Yu, X. Chen, C. Zhong, D. W. Kwan Ng and Z. Zhang, "Design, Analysis, and Optimization of a Large Intelligent Reflecting Surface-Aided B5G Cellular Internet of Things," in IEEE Internet of Things Journal, vol. 7, no. 9, pp. 8902-8916, Sept. 2020,

[68] W. Yuan, Z. Wei, S. Li, J. Yuan and D. W. K. Ng, "Integrated Sensing and Communication-Assisted Orthogonal Time Frequency Space Transmission for Vehicular Networks," in IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Signal Processing, vol. 15, no. 6, pp. 1515-1528, Nov. 2021

[69] S. Li et al., "A Novel ISAC Transmission Framework Based on Spatially-Spread Orthogonal Time Frequency Space Modulation," in IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications, vol.
40, no. 6, pp. 1854-1872, June 2022

[70] C. Liu et al., "Learning-Based Predictive Beamforming for Integrated Sensing and Communication in Vehicular Networks," in IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications, vol. 40, no. 8, pp. 2317-2334, Aug. 2022.

[71] D. Xu, X. Yu, D. W. K. Ng, A. Schmeink and R. Schober, "Robust and Secure Resource Allocation for ISAC Systems: A Novel Optimization Framework for Variable-Length Snapshots," in IEEE Transactions on Communications, vol. 70, no. 12, pp. 8196-8214, Dec. 2022

[72] X. Chen, B. Feng, Y. Wu, D. W. Kwan Ng and R. Schober, "Joint Beamforming and Antenna Movement Design for Moveable Antenna Systems Based on Statistical CSI," GLOBECOM 2023
2023 IEEE Global Communications Conference, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, 2023

[73] Y. Wu, D. Xu, D. W. K. Ng, W. Gerstacker and R. Schober, "Movable Antenna-Enhanced Multiuser Communication: Jointly Optimal Discrete Antenna Positioning and Beamforming," GLOBECOM 2023 - 2023 IEEE Global Communications Conference, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, 2023, pp. 7508-7513.

[74] X. Xie, Y. Wu, J. An, D. W. K. Ng, C. Xing and W. Zhang, "Massive Unsourced Random Access for Near-Field Communications," in IEEE Transactions on Communications.

[75] L. Qiao et al., "Sensing User's Activity, Channel, and Location With Near-Field Extra-Large-Scale MIMO," in IEEE Transactions on Communications, vol. 72, no. 2, pp. 890-906, Feb. 2024,

[76] H. Lei, J. Zhang, H. Xiao, X. Zhang, B. Ai and D. W. K. Ng, "Channel Estimation for XL-MIMO Systems With Polar-Domain Multi-Scale Residual Dense Network," in IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology, vol. 73, no. 1, pp. 1479-1484, Jan. 2024,

[77] Z. Zhang, Q. Sun, J. Zhang, D. W. K. Ng and B. Ai, "Ergodic Capacity of Intelligent Omni-Surface-Aided Communication Systems With Phase Quantization Errors and Outdated CSI," in IEEE Systems Journal, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 1889-1898, June 2023.

[78] W. Xu, Z. Yang, D. W. K. Ng, M. Levorato, Y. C. Eldar and M. Debbah, "Edge Learning for B5G Networks With Distributed Signal Processing: Semantic Communication, Edge Computing, and Wireless Sensing," in *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Signal Processing*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 9-39, Jan. 2023.